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Summary :

Tekfur Sarayi, or the “Palace of Porphyrogennetos”, constitutes the only surviving late Byzantine palace of Constantinople. It is a trapezoid-shaped
three-story building which is situated on the northern end of the land walls of Theodosios II. In terms of arrangement, it bears similarities with the

south wing of the palace of Mistra, whereas its morphology resembles similar buildings of the West. It is dated to the 141 century, based on its wall
masonry and its morphological elements.

Date
14™ century

Geographical Location

Constantinople, Istanbul

1. Presentation of the monument

1.1. Identity of the monument

Tekfur Sarayi, the so-called “Palace of the Porphyrogennetos”, is the latest palace of the Byzantine Constantinople still preserved.
During the period 1959- 1965 restoration works were carried out on the building; extended repairs took again place in 2006. Today
it has been characterized as an area of archaeological importance, which can be visited along with the walls of the city and the Chora
Monastery. The importance of this building is exceptional for the research, since it provides evidence for the imperial residence of the
late Byzantine period.

The tradition connects this monument with the so-called “Palace of the Porphyrogennetos’. In late Byzantine sources the house of an
anonymous Porphyrogennetos (mean. Purple-born) is mentioned. Better known is the name Tekfur Sarayi, which has been widely

used since the 17t century and thereafter. The origin of its name could have been Greek (from the expression «tov kvpiov»),
Armenian (from the word «thakautr», which means «basileus») or Persian (from aword translated as «the one who bears the

crown).2

1.2. History of the monument

At one time, the erection of the palace was believed to date to the 101" century, in the years of Constantine VI (Porphyrogennetos)
(912-920/944- 959). L ater it was considered to be the residence of Constantine Porphyrogennetos, third son of Michael V11|
Palaiologos (1261-1287), and its construction was placed between the years 1261 and 1271, a period during which the Blachernai

palace was renovated.3 Nevertheless the wall masonry and its morphological elements point towards a later dating, in the 14th
century.

During the Ottoman period the palace ceased to function as a residence. At the end of the 16t century it was used as menagerie by
the Ottoman sultans. Because of the kiln excavated at the site* it is believed that in the 18! century a ceramic workshop was
established there, which |ater functioned as a glass-works. In the 19t century the structure accommodated part of the Jewish
community of the city.

1.3. Location

Tekfur Sarayi stands on the northeastern corner of the old city of Constantinople, at the north end of the land walls of Theodosios |1,
on the level of Xylokerkos (see map of fig. 1). To the north of the palace started the wall of Manuel | Komnenos (1143-1180),

whereas to the south the palace was attached to a tower of the Theodosian fortification, repaired in the 12th century.® The vicinity of
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Tekfur Saray with the Blacharnai palace led, incorrectly, some researchers to identify the two monuments as one.®

2. Architectural description
2.1. Outer facade

The palace of the Porphyrogennetos is a trapezoid- shaped three-story building with a courtyard, which bears similarities in the

arrangement with the south wing of the palace of Mistra, whereas its morphology resembles similar buildings of the West.” It belongs
to the type of tower-like palace, with strong fortification. Notably the western fagade of the palace, with few windows opened, was

reinforced with a tower at the west side of the Xylokerkos Gate (fig. 3), since it was more vulnerable to enemy attacks.® The
masonry of the palace consists of courses of finely dressed, rectangular stones, alternated with triple courses of brick stones. On the

double arches of the windows pieces of colored marbles alternate with triple brick stones (fig. 5 and 6).°
2.2. Internal arrangement

Theinternal arrangement of the monument is not preserved, the of the ground floor and the floors of the two stories have
collapsed. Information about it we derive from the drawings of C. Texier and W. Salzenberg.10

On the ground floor, six columns supported eight circular vaults and a narrow semicircular vault on the back side, via
1 The north side of the ground floor communicated with the courtyard, through four arcaded openings (fig. 2). The arches

rested on a central, cross-shaped pier, which was framed with two pairs of columns and two subsidiary . From the twine
columns are still preserved the drawings of two , which were spolia. The with the is dated to the
middle Byzantine period, whereas the goes back to the 39 to 4t century.12

The first storey had at least three rooms, asit is discerned from the surviving traces of the separating walls. Access to the upper
storey was provided by a steep ramp from the rampart of the outer defensive wall. On the north fagade (fig. 2) were created arcares,

in full match with the openings of the ground floor, pierced by smaller, arched windows. 13

The second, timber-roofed, storey must have been undivided, with one conch for the throne in the middle of the south side. On the

north fagade double arched windows were opened, in mismatch with those of the lower storeys.* Two balconies were formed on
the southern and on the eastern side. The way of communication between the two upper storeysis still unknown.

2.3. Decor ative elements

Tekfur Sarayi presents common decorative trends with Constantinopolitan monuments of the 14th century, such as the church of
Saints Theodoroi, the chapels of the church of Pammakaristos and of the Chora Monastery.1® Ceramoplastic decorative patterns
carry the north fagade of the palace, the of the arches, the interfenestral spaces and the continuous frieze (fig. 5 and 6).
Rhombus, chess-shaped decorationand crosses are formed. It is possible that there were as well shields carrying the symbol of the
four Sigma ( = the letter “C”), that some believe to be the monogram of the Palaiologoi house. The decorations were only covering
the outer surfaces and tend to easily come off.16 On the balconies, the rain gutter ends were shaped in the form of lion heads.’

1. Mrovgag, X.0., Iotopia tnc Apxitextovikic, Apxitextovikn oto BuCdvtio, To IoAdy xaw tnv Avtixn Evpann katd tov Meoaiwova B'
(Athens 1999), p. 404.

2. Late Byzantine sources mention the “house of Porphyrogennetos”, cf. KoitéfovAog A. 27.3. The same author reports as well the
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name Tekfur Sarayi, as a location where the Turkish troops encamped during the siege of 1453; see Van Millingen, A., Byzantine
Constantinople, The Walls of the City and Adjoining Historical sites (London 1899), p. 109, and Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray” in Curcic, S.—
Xatlntovdwvog, E.(ed.), KwvotavtivovroAn, Tovpxia, Koopikn Meoawwvikn) Apxitextovikn ota BaAxdvia 1300 — 1500 kaw n Awatripnor tne
(Thessaloniki 1997), p. 248. For the etymology see Van Millingen, A., as above, p. 109, and Meyer-Plath, B. — Schneider, A M., Die
Landmauer von Konstantinopel (Berlin 1943), p. 96.

3. Van Millingen, A., Byzantine Constantinople, The Walls of the City and Adjoining Historical sites (London 1899), pp. 110-113. Mango, C.,
“Tekfur Saray”, in Kazhdan, A.(editor-in-chief), The Oxford Dictionary of Byzantium 3 (Oxford — New York 1991), p. 2022. Ahunbay, M.,
“Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.— Xatlntovdwvog, E.(ed.), KwvotavtivovmoAn, Tovpkia, Koouikn Meoaiwvikn Apxitektovikn ota BaAkdvia
1300 — 1500 xat n Awatipnon ¢ (Thessaloniki 1997), p. 248. Mango, C., “Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archaologischen
Instituts 80 (1965), pp. 334-335.

4. Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.—Xatl{ntovdpwvos, E.(ed.), KwvotavtvovmoAn, Tovpkia, Koouwkn) Meoatwvixn Apxitextovikn
ota BaAxavia 1300 — 1500 kat n Awatripnon tnc (Thessaloniki 1997), p. 250.

5. Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.—Xatlntovdpwvog, E. (ed.), Kwvoravtvovnodn, Tovpkia, Koopixn Meoatwvikn Apxitextovikn
ota BaAxavia 1300 — 1500 kat n Awatrjpnon e (Thessaloniki 1997), p. 248.

6. Meyer-Plath, B. — Schneider, A.M., Die Landmauer von Konstantinopel (Berlin 1943), p. 96.

7. See OopAavdog, AK, «Ta maAatia kot ta omitiax tov Muoted», Apxeiov twv BuCavtwvav Mvnueiwv tne EAAGdoc 3 (1937), pp. 50 -517?
Mango, C., “Tekfur Saray”, in Kazhdan, A.(editor-in-chief), The Oxford Dictionary of Byzantium 3 (Oxford — New York 1991), p. 2022.
Western architecture had infiltrated in the dominion of Byzantium already since the 13 century; see Mango, C,,
“Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archaologischen Instituts 80 (1965), p.334. Krautheimer, R., [laAatoxprotiavikn kat BvCavtivy
Apxrrextovikn, MaAAovxov-Tovpavo, @.(trans.) (Athens 1991), p. 551. Mmovoag, X.0., Iotopia tnc ApxitexTovikic, ApXITEKTOVIKT 0TO
BuCavtio, to IoAdu xar v Avtixn Evpwnn xatd tov Meoaiwva B' (Athens 1999), p. 404.

8. Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.—Xatl{ntovdpwvog, E. (ed.), KwvotavtvovmoAn, Tovpkia, Koouwkn Mesaiwvixh ApxitekTovik
ota BaAxavia 1300 — 1500 kat n Awatripnon tnc (Thessaloniki 1997), p. 241. Van Millingen, A., Byzantine Constantinople, The Walls of the City
and Adjoining Historical sites (London 1899), p. 111. Mango, C., “Tekfur Saray”, in Kazhdan, A.(editor-in-chief), The Oxford Dictionary of
Byzantium 3 (Oxford — New York 1991), p. 2021.

9. Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.—Xatlntovdpwvog, E. (ed.), Kovoravtwvovnodn, Tovpkia, Koopixn Meoaiwvikn Apxitextovikn
ota BaAxavia 1300 — 1500 kat n Awatijpnon tnc (Thessaloniki 1997), pp. 248-249. Krautheimer, R., [TaAatoxprotiavikn ket BvCavtivn
Apxitextovikn, MaAAovxov-Tovdpavo, ®.(trans.) (Athens 1991), p. 550.

10. Mango, C., “Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archiologischen Instituts 80 (1965), p. 330.

11. From the columnsisstill preserved only afragment of the original capitals, see Ahunbay, M., “ Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S—Xat{ntpdewvog, E.
(ed.), Kwvaravrivovmoln, Tovpxia, Kooy Meoaiwviki Apyitektovirn ota Badxdvio 1300 — 1500 xaz 5 Aratiipnoi tne (Thessaloniki 1997), p.248.
For therest of the architectural elements see Mango, C., “ Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archéol ogischen I nstituts 80 (1965), pp. 330,
333, and Feld, O., “Zu den Kapitellen des Tekfur Saray in Istanbul”, Istanbuler Mitteilungen 19-20 (1969-70), pp. 359 -367.

12. Mango, C., “Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archiologischen Instituts 80 (1965), p. 330, 333, and Feld, O., “Zu den
Kapitellen des Tekfur Saray in Istanbul”, Istanbuler Mitteilungen 19-20 (1969-70), pp. 359 -367.

13. Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.—Xat{ntevdpwvog, E. (ed.), Kwvotavtwovmoln, Tovpkia, Kooukn Meoaiwvixi
Apxitextovikn ota BaAxavia 1300 — 1500 kat n Awatipnon e (Thessaloniki 1997), p.248.

14. OopAavdog, AK, «Ta maAdatia kot ta omtitiax Tov Muoted», Apxeiov twv BuCavtwvav Mvnueiwv tne EAAGdoc 3 (1937), p.51.
Ahunbay, M., “Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S. - Xatintovdwvog, E. (ed.), KwvotavtivovnoAn, Tovpxia, Kooutkn Meoawwvikn Apxitektovikn
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ota BaAxdvia 1300 — 1500 xat 1 Awatrjpnon tnc (Thessaloniki 1997), p.248. Van Millingen, A., Byzantine Constantinople, The Walls of the City
and Adjoining Historical sites (London 1899), p.111. Mango, C., “Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archaologischen Instituts 80
(1965), p. 330,

15. BeAévng, T M., Epunveia tov EEwtepukod Ataxdopov oty BuCavtvn Apxitextovixt (Thessaloniki 1984), p. 165 note 1. Krautheimer, R.,
IaAawyprotiavikn kat BuCavtivy Apxitektovikn, MaAAovxov-Tovdpavo, ®. (trans.) (Athens 1991), p. 551. Ahunbay, M., Tekfur Saray”,
in Curcic, S.—Xatlntovdpwvog, E. (ed.), KwvotavtivovmoAn, Tovpkia, Koourkn Meoawwvikn Apxitextovikn ota BaAxdvia 1300 — 1500 kot n
Awtiipnon tnc (Thessaloniki 1997), P. 249. Mnovgac, X.0., Iotopia tne Apxitextoviknc, Apxitextovikn oto BuCavtio, To IoAdu xar tny
Avtik) Evponn katd tov Meoaiwva B' (Athens 1999), p. 404.

16. Berévng, I M., Epunveia tov EEwtepixot diaxdéouov oty Bolavuvii Apyirexrovicr (Thessaloniki 1984), pp. 163, 170- Krautheimer R.,
Holowoypionioviki kot Bulavtivij Apyirexrovikij, ©. MoAlovyov — Tovgdvo (trans.) (Athens 1991) p. 550- Ahunbay, M., “ Tekfur Saray”, in Curcic, S.
— Xatlntpveovog, E. (ed.), Kmwvotavrivodmoly, Tovpkia, Koouikii Mecorwvikn Apyirextovikij ora Balkavia 1300 — 1500 kar i dwazijpnon te
(Thessaloniki 1997), p. 249. Mango, C., “ Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archaol ogischen Instituts 80 (1965), p. 330: Van Millingen,
A., Byzantine Constantinople, The Walls of the City and Adjoining Historical sites (London 1899), p. 113.

17. On the drawings of Salzenberg, the rain gutters are shaped in the form of other animals as well, such as eagle heads and ram
heads; see Salzenberg, W., Altchristliche Baudenkmale von Constantinopel (Berlin 1854), Mango, C., “Constantinopolitana”, Jahrbuch des
Deutschen Archaologischen Instituts 80 (1965), p. 333.
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Glossary :
anta or pilaster, the
A shallow rectagular feature projecting from awall, having a capital and a base and architecturally treated as a column.
capital
The uppermost part of acolumn or pillar crowning the shaft and supporting the entablature. The decoration of the capital characteristizes the ancient

greek orders of architecture. In Doric order the capitals are decorated with abacus and echinus, in lonic with spiral scrolls (volutes), while the
corinthian capitals are composed of small corner volutes and a basket-shaped body decorated with rows of acanthus |eaves.

composite Corinthian capital

A mixed order, combining the volutes of the lonic order capital with the acanthus|eaves of the Corinthian order. These capitals also have echinus
mol ding with egg-and-dart ornamentation.

relieving arch

Therelieving arches are built over opennings on the wall or, in case of fortifications, on the inside of the curtain wall, to help carry the weight of the
€elevation.

rosette, the
An ornament with agenerally circular combination of parts resembling aflower or plant.
theodosian capital

The theodosian capital was an innovation of Early Christian architecture. Initially it was avery schematic composite capital with extremely deep relief
(usually made with the drill). By the sixth century the theodosian capital turned more and more into the geometric shape of atruncated cone,
sometimes afolded one. Usually it was covered by amore or less schematic vegetal decoration evoking the acanthus leaves and continuing without
abreak on the impost block, which thus merged with the cone of the capital.

tympanum (lunette)

(Rom., Byz.) The arched panel (lunette) inside an arch or an arcosolium.
vault

A semi-cylindrical roof.

Sources
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Michael Kritoboulos, Historia, ed. D.R. Reinsch, Critobuli Imbriotae historiae (Corpus Fontium Historiae Byzantinae. Series Berolinensis 22.
Berlin 1983).

Quotations

A reference to the monument as the residence of the Porphyrogennetos in a Byzantine source:

(3.) Kapatlia d¢ 1@ 1 BTG €maoxw Kkal ETEQ0LS TV oatean@y o ano tNg ZvAivng ITVANG avidvtt péxol twv Baoidelwv tov
[Toodpugoyevvritov kai GpO&vovtL péxot TN ovopalopévng ITVANG e Xaptoovg éyxetpilet dovg avT@ KAl Tvag TV UNxavay Kol
U XOVOTIOLOUG Tt le Ly TO Ta0TH) TELXOG, T) &tV AoOeVES Kal ETtipaxov i), kal kataoeiety avTo.

Michael Kritoboulos, Historia, ed. D.R. Reinsch, Critobuli Imbriotae historiae (CFHB 22. Berlin, 1983), 1. 27. 3



